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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.
Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2024

The Board of Directors has pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements for the vear
ended 31 December 2024,

Incorporation and registered office

Ras Al Khaimah Nadonal Insurance Company P.S.C. (“RAK Insurance” or the “Company™) was incorporated
under an LEmiri Decree Number 20/76 issued by HH Ruler of Ras Al Khaimah. The address of the registered
offlice is RAIK Insurance Head Office, 6th Floor RAK Bank ROC Office, Al Riffa, Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab
Emirates.

Financial position and results

RAK Insurance earned a profit after tax of ATD 15.4 million for the vear ended 31 December 2024 as compared
to a profit of AED 14.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Previous year™). This profit after tax
of AED [5.4 million resulted in the Company’s equity increasing from AED 159.6 million as at 31 December 2023
to AED 176.9 million as at 31 December 2024

Basic earnings after tax per share is AED 0.13 for the year ended 31 December 2024 on a capital base of AED
121.3 million as compared to a earnings per share of AED 0.12 in the previous year on a capital base of AED
121.3 million.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of RAK Insurance, T would like to thank the execurive management and staft
for their dedication, commitment, and constant hard work. The Directors would also like to acknowledge our

reinsurance partners, customers and all the stakeholders of the Company.

Yours faithfully,

Sheikh Omar Bin Saqr Bin Khalid Al Qasimi
Chairman
22 January 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Ras Al Khaimah Natonal Insurance Company P.S.C. (the
“Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the statement of

profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information,

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the yeat then ended
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accotdance with Intetnational Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Out responsibilities under
those standatds are further described in the Awdiror’s Responsibilities for the Aundit of the Finaticial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Acconntants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (‘TESBA
Codz”), together with the ethical requitements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements, We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current pedod. These matters were addressed in the context of out audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming out opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. :

2

2025 Grant Thornton UAE - All rights reserved. Grant Thornton UAE represents all legal licenses under which Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting grantthornton.ae
Limited Corporation, A British Virgin islands (“BVI”) registered Branch, operate in the UAE. These licenses include the Abu D habi, Dubai and Sharjah :
based branches ~ Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting Limited —registered with the Abu Dhabi Global Market — Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting

Limited Corporation BVI —registered with the Dubai Financial Services Authority.

“Grant Thornton” refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwlide partnership. GTIL and each
member firm Is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member
firms are not agents of, and do not oblirate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)

it matter

[ Key Audi cr
| Valuadon of [nsurance Conteact Liabiliti 1 2 UGS RS :
As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s insurance | We following procedures
contract liabilities, reinsurance contract assets and | conjunction with our actuatial specialists:

liabilities are valued at AED 479.6 million, AED 231.6 | . Understood and evaluated the process, the design
million and AED 27.9 million respectively. and implementation of controls in place to
determine valuation of insurance contract
liabilities, reinsurance contract assets and liabilities;

ance G

in

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities, reinsurance
contract assets and liabilities involves significant

judgements and estimates particularly with respect to
the estimation of the present value of futute cash flows,
eligibility of the premium allocation approach (PAA)
and estimation of the liabilities for incurred claims.

- Assessment of the competence, capabilities and

objectivity of the management appointed actuary;

Tested the completeness, and on sample basis, the
accuracy and relevance of data used to determine

future cashflows;

- Evaluated the appropriateness of the
methodology, significant assumptions including
risk adjustment, PAA eligibility assessment,
discount rates and expenses included within the
fulfilment cashflows. This included consideration
of the reasonableness of assumptions against actual
historical experience and the appropriateness of
any judgments applied;

These cash flows primarily include determination of
expected premium receipts, expected ultimate cost of
claims and allocation of insurance acquisition cash
flows which are within the contract boundaties.

The calculation for these liabilities includes significant
estimation and involvement of actuarial experts in order
to ensure appropriateness of methodology,
assumptions and data used to determine the estimated
future cash flows and the appropriateness of the | -
discount rates used to determine the present value of
these cashflows.

We independently reperformed the calculation to
assess the mathematical accuracy of the insurance
contract liabilities, teinsurance contract assets and
labilities on selected classes of business,
particulatly focusing on latgest and most uncertain
reserves; and

- [Evaluated and tested the calculation of the
allowance for expected credit loss including the
data, key assumptions and judgments used.

As a result of all the above factors, we consider
valuaton of insurance contract liabilities, reinsurance
contract assets and liabilities as a key audit matter.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Directors’ Report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is matetially inconsistent with the
financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed on the other information that are obtained prior to the date of this auditot’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to teport that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and their preparation in compliance with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 and Federal Law No. (48) of 2023, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In pteparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company ot to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance ate responsible for oversecing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives ate to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can atise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

®  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those tisks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a matetial misstatement
tesulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

® Obtain an understanding of intetnal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the citcumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

® Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events ot conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concetn. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial staternents of, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditot’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concetn.

®  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and whete applicable, telated safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we detetmine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the cutrent yeat and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law ot regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare citcumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the UAE Federal Dectee Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that:
i) We have obtained all the information we considered necessaty for the purposes of our audit;

i) The financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021;

ii) The Company has maintained proper books of account in accordance with established accounting principles;

iv) The financial information included in the Ditectors” report is consistent with the books of account of the
Company;

v)  As disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements, the Company has not purchased or invested in shares
during the year ended 31 December 2024;

vi) Note 24 to the financial statements discloses matetial related party transactions, and the terms under which
they were conducted;

vii) Note 22 to the financial statements discloses the social contributions made during the year ended
31 December 2024; and

viii) Based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to out attention which causes
us to believe that the Company has contravened during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 any of
the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, or in respect of the Company, its
Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December

2024,

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (48) of 2023, we repott that we have obtained all the information
and explanation we consideted necessary for the putpose of our audit.

Tho
O’L l‘.,'
v .

GRANT THORNTON UAE

Dr. Osama El Bakry
Registration No: 935
Dubai, United Arab Emirates

22 January 2025



Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023

Notes AED AED
Assets
Propecty and equipment 5 755,530 48,750
Intangible assets 6 3,736,938 4,469,392
IFinancial asserts 7 222,517,680 135,184,071
Statutory deposit 8 10,000,000 10,000,000
Reinsurance contract assets 9 231,578,253 176,312,486
Other receivables 10 9,608,666 4,525,555
Cash and cash equivalents 11 117,508,265 28,505,390
Deposits 12 178,377,888 243,951,776
Total assets 774,083,220 603,433,420
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 13 121,275,000 121,275,000
Statutory reserve 14 52,754,029 51,210,165
Voluntary reserve L4 20,000,000 20,000,000
Reinsurance reserve 14 5,286,768 3,895,720
Cumulative changes in fair value of FVTOCI investments (7,434,423)  (9,324,865)
Accumulated losses (14,999,691) (27,503 418)
Total equity 176,881,683 159,552,602
Liabilities
Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity 15 6,760,628 6,345,883
Insurance contract liabilities 9 479,593,598 364,670,292
Reinsurance contract liabilities 9 27,920,098 1,398,256
Bank borrowings 16 74,911,911 59,380,752
Other payables 17 6,340,729 12,085,635
Deferred tax liability 18 148,405 -
Income tax payable 1,526,168 g
Total liabilities 597,201,537 443,880,818
Total equity and liabilities 774,083,220 603,433,420

These financial statements were authorised for issue on 22 January 2025 by the Board of Dircctors and

blgHCCI on tllClL behtllt b\.
~ /’%ﬂﬂ
{.;.__.—-—-"—'_—'_'_-

Sheikh Omar Bin Saqr Bin Khalid Al Qasimi Sdnjeev I Bad3
Chairman Chief E).ecut re Officer

The notes from 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Insutance revenue

Insurance service expenses

Insurance service result before reinsurance contracts
held

Allocation of reinsurance premiums
Amounts recoverable from teinsurance for incurred claims
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

Insurance service result
Investment income - net

Insurance finance expense for insurance contracts issued
Reinsurance finance income for reinsurance contracts held
Net insurance finance (expense) / income

Other operating expenses
Other underwriting income
Profit for the year before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year after tax

Basic and diluted earnings after tax per share

The notes from 1 to 36 form an integral patt of these financial statements.

Notes

20

21

21

21

25

26

19

23

2024 2023
AED AED
504,064,600 464,373,179
(479,215,020)  (419,664,889)
24,849,580 44708290
(214,684,180)  (203,208,109)
201,124,906 158,654,208
(13,559,274) (44,553,901
11,290,306 154,389
16,601,479  14903,382
(13,647,947) (10,309,987
13,292,903 20944363
(355,044) 10,634,376
(13,928,136)  (14,286,553)
3,317,640 3,135,580
16,926,245 14,541,174
(1,487,606) -
15,438,639  14541,174
0.13 0.12

7



Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Note
Profit for the year after tax

Other comprehensive income:
Iterns that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss:
Net change in fair value of debt investments designated at
FVTOCI — net of tax 7
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Net change in fair value of equity investments designated at
FVTOCI - net of tax 7
Capital reduction on equity investments
Total other comprehensive income for the year

Total Comprehensive Income
for the year

The notes from 1 to 36 form an integtal part of these financial statements.

2024 2023
AED AED
15,438,639 14,541,174
1,500,534 4,166,202
389,908 439,830

- 24,003
1,890,442 4,630,035
17,329,081 19,171,209
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Provision for expected credit loss

Provision for employees’ end of setvice indemnity

Realised gain on disposal of financial asset at FVIPL equity
investments

Realised gain on disposal of property and equipment

Wtite-off of property and equipment

Write-off of intangible assets

Amortisation of premium on FVTOCI debt investments

Interest income — net

Dividend income

Interest cost on bank borrowing

Impairment losses on financial asset at FVTOCI investments

Operating cash flows before changes in wotking capital

Changes in working capital:

Reinsurance contract assets and liabilities — net

Insurance contract liabilities

Other receivables

Other payables

Net cash generated from/(used in) operations
Directors” remuneration paid

Employees’ end of service indemnity paid

Interest paid on bank borrowings

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment

Putchase of intangible assets

Purchase of financial assets at FVTOCI

Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL

Proceeds from maturities of financial assets at FVT'OCI

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVIPL

Interest received

Dividend received

Maturities of fixed deposits with banks with original
maturities greater than three months

Placements of fixed deposits with banks with original
maturities greater than three months

Net cash (used in)/ generated from investing activities

The notes from 1 to 36 form an integral patt of these financial statements.

Notes

w

15

~ &

21

21

w

~ ~1 -1 -1 &

2024 2023

AED AED
16,926,245 14,541,174
365,564 709,468
1,608,543 1,514,318
3,829,670 5392,415
1,094,838 1,256,087

2 (864,540)

(62,858) -

- 219,872

- 304,465

(322,074) 4,172)
(16,521,505)  (14,269,694)
(216,396) (239,866)
999,439 2,266,303
230,676 479,118
7,932,042 11,304,948
(31,719,191)  (51,576,757)
114,105,107 33,935,426
(3,409,155)  (3,899,102)
(5,261,275)  (1,587.671)
81,647,628 (11,823,156
(614,000) -
(680,093)  (1,166,963)
(869,070) (1,728,328
79,484,465 (14,718,447
(636,370) (142,475)
62,906 :
(876,089) (646,355)
(96,544,785) (24,637,947
- (2,518,040
11,282,338 1,873,230
- 3382580
17,560,239 16,268,645
216,396 239,865
200,453,409 209,257,876
(137,530,793) (178,863,041)
(6,012,749) 24214338

10



Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Statement of cash flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
AED AED

Cash flows from financing activity
Increase in botrowings 15,531,159 9,380,752
Net cash generated from financing activity 15,531,159 9,380,752
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 89,002,875 18,876,643
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 28,505,390 9,628,747
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 117,508,265 28,505,390

The notes from 1 to 36 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

1 Legal status and activities

Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (the “Company”) is a public joint-stock company,
established and incorporated in the Emirate of Ras Al Khaimah by Emiti dectee No. 20/76 dated 26
October 1976, The Company is subject to the regulations of the U.A.E. Federal Law No. (48) of 2023,
concerning Financial Regulations of Insurance Companies issued by the Central Bank of UAE and
regulation of its operations and is registered in the Insurance Companies Register of the Central Bank of
the UAE, under registration number 7.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the applicable laws
and regulations, including UAE Federal Dectee Law No. (32) of 2021.

The Company is a subsidiary of National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah P.S.C. (the “Parent company”) which is
incorporated in the Emirate of Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emitates. The address of the Company’s
registered head office is P. O. Box 506, Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates. The Company’s ordinary
shates are listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange, United Arab Emirates. The ptincipal activity of
the Company is to undertake all classes of insurance business including life assurance, saving and
accumulation of funds. The Company operates through its head office in Ras Al Khaimah and branch
offices in Ras Al Khaimah, Dubai, and Abu Dhabi.

On December 9, 2022, the United Arab Emirates (UAE) Ministry of Finance (MoF) released Federal
Decree Law No 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses, Corporate Tax Law (CT Law)
to enact a new CT regime in the UAE. The new CT regime has become effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 June 2023. As the Company’s accounting year ends on 31 December, the first tax
period is from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024, with the respective tax return to be filed on or before
30 September 2025.

The taxable income of the entities that are in scope for UAE CT purposes will be subject to the rate of 9%
on taxable profits above AED 375,000. The tax charge for the year ended 31 December 2024 is AED
1,487,606.

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”)
New and revised IFRSs and interpretations applied on the financial statements

The following relevant standatds, interpretations and amendments to existing standards were issued by the
TASB:

Standard number Title Effective date
Amendment to IAS 1 — Non-current liabilities with covenants

k1 and classification of liabilities as current or non-current b Janacy 209
Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7

IAS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures—Supplier Finance 1 January 2024
Arrangements

IFRS 16 Amendment to IFRS 16 — Leases on sale and leaseback 1 January 2024

These standards did not have a material impact on these financial statements,

Standards issued but not yet effective

The impact of the new standards, interpretations and amendments that are issued, but not yet effective, up
to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends
to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

12



Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
{continued)

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Standard number Title Effective date
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of exchangeability Sale or

IAS 21 Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 1 January 2025
Joint Venture

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7
IFRS 9 & IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures regarding the classification 1 January 2026
and measurement of financial instruments

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
3 Statement of compliance with IFRS

These financial statements are for the year ended 31 December 2024 and are presented in United Arab
Emirate Dirham (AED), which is also the functional cuttency of the Company. The financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards promulgated by Internadonal
Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and interpretations thereof issued by the IFRS Intetpretations
Committee (“IFRS IC”) and in compliance with the applicable requirements of the United Arab Emirates
(UAE) Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 (“Companies Law™), relating to commercial companies and
United Arab Emitates (UAE) Federal Law No. (48) of 2023 concerning Financial Regulations for Insurance
Companies issued by the Central Bank of the UAE (“CBUAE”) and tegulation of its opetations.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepated on the histotical cost basis, except fot financial assets carried
at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets carried at fair value through profit
and loss which are carried at fair value and the provision for employees’ end of service indemnity which is
calculated in line with UAE labour laws.

The Company’s statement of financial position is not presented using a current / non-curtent classification.
However, the following balances would generally be classified as current: cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, other receivables, other payables, income tax payable
and bank borrowings. The following balances would generally be classified as non-current: propetty and
equipment, intangible assets, statutory deposit, deferred tax liability and provision for employees’ end of
service indemnity. The following balances are of mixed nature (including both cutrent and non-curtent
portions): financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, reinsurance contract assets,
insurance contract liabilities, reinsurance contract liabilities and deposits.

4 Material accounting policy information

Insurance Contracts

Insurance contracts are contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance tisk from a
policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event adversely
affects the policyholder. In making this assessment, all substantive rights and obligations, including those
arising from law or regulation, are considered on a contract-by-contract basis. The Company uses
judgement to assess whether a contract transfers insurance risk (that is, if there is a scenatio with commercial
substance in which the Company has the possibility of a loss on a present value basis) and whether the
accepted insurance risk is significant.

IFRS 17 replaced IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts for annual years on or after 1 January 2023,
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Notes to the financial statements
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance Contracts (continued)

Unit of account

The Company manages insurance contracts issued by product lines within an operating segment, where
each product line includes contracts that are subject to similar tisks. All insurance contracts within a product
line represent a portfolio of contracts. Each pottfolio is further disaggregated into groups of contracts,
which are: (i) contracts that are onerous at initial tecognition; (if) contracts that at initial recognition have
no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently; ot (iif) 2 group of remaining contracts, These
groups represent the level of aggregation at which insurance contracts are initially recognised and measured.

For each portfolio of contracts, the Company determines the appropriate level at which reasonable and
supportable information is available, to assess whether these conttacts are onerous at initial recognition and
whether non-onerous contracts have a significant possibility of becoming onerous. This level of granularity
determines sets of contracts. The Company determines at what level of granulatity it has reasonable and
suppottable information that is sufficient to conclude that all contracts within a set are sufficiently
homogeneous and will be allocated to the same Company without performing an individual contract
assessment.

Recognition and derecognition
Groups of insurance contracts issued ate initially recognised from the earliest of the following:

() the beginning of the coverage petiod;

(b) the date when the first payment from the policyholder is due or actually received, if there is no due
date; and

© when the Company determines that a group of contracts becomes onetous.

Reinsurance contracts held are recognised as follows:

(@) a group of reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate coverage (quota share
reinsurance) is recognised at the later of:
i the beginning of the coverage period of the group; and
il. the initial recognitdon of any undetlying insurance contract;

(b) all other groups of reinsurance contracts held are recognised from the beginning of the coverage
period of the group of reinsurance contracts held;

(c) unless the Company entered into the reinsurance contract held at or before the date when an onerous
group of underlying contracts is recognised prior to the beginning of the coverage period of the group of
reinsurance contracts held, in which case the reinsurance contract held is recognised at the same time as
the group of undetlying insurance contracts is tecognised. Only contracts that individually meet the
recognition criteria by the end of the reporting period are included in the groups. When conttacts meet the
recognition criteria in the groups after the reporting date, they are added to the groups in the reporting
period in which they meet the recognition criteria, subject to the annual cohotts restriction. Composition
of the groups is not reassessed in subsequent periods.

Contract boundary

The Company uses the concept of contract boundary to determine what cash flows should be considered
in the measurement of groups of insurance contracts. Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance
contract if they atise from the rights and obligations that exist during the period in which the policyholder
is obligated to pay premiums or the Company has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with
insutance contract setvices. A substantive obligation ends when:

(a) the Company has the practical ability to reprice the risks of the particular policyholder or change
the level of benefits so that the price fully reflects those tisks; or
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance Contracts (continued)

Contract boundary (continued)

(b) both of the following ctiteria are satisfied:

i the Company has the practical ability to reprice the contract or a portfolio of contracts so
that the price fully reflects the reassessed risk of that portfolio; and

ii. the pricing of premiums up to the date when risks are reassessed does not reflect the risks
telated to periods beyond the reassessment date.

In assessing the practical ability to reprice, risks transferred from the policyholder to the Company, such as
insurance risk and financial risk, are considered; other risks, such as lapse ot surrender and expense risk, are
not included. Cash flows outside the insutance contracts boundary telate to future insurance contracts and
are recognised when those contracts meet the recognition critetia.

Measutement

The Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”) is a simplified approach for the measurement of the liability

for remaining coverage, that an entity may choose to use when the premium allocation approach provides

a measurement which is not materially different from that under the general measurement model or if the

coverage period of each contract in the group of insurance contracts is one year or less. Under the premium

allocation approach, the liability for remaining coverage (“LRC”) is measured as the amount of premiums

received net of acquisition cash flows paid, less the net amount of premiums and acquisition cash flows

that have been recognised in profit or loss over the expired portion of the coverage petiod based on the

passage of time.

The Company uses the PAA for measuring contracts with a coverage period of one year ot less. The

Company is adopting the PAA measurement model for the measurement of LRC for all its insurance

contracts and reinsurance contracts. This is ptincipally based on the eligibility test for fulfillment cash flows

and that coverage period for most contracts are one year or less. Some contracts have coverage period mote

than one year, but passed the eligibility test.

For insurance contracts issued, on initial recognition, the Company measures the LRC at the amount of

premiums received, less any acquisition cash flows paid.

For reinsurance contracts held, on initial recognition, the Company measures the remaining coverage at the

amount of ceding premiums paid, plus broker fees paid to a party other than the reinsurer and any amounts

arising from the derecognition of any other relevant pre-recognition cash flows.

The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued at the end of each reporting period is the

sum of:

a. the LRC; and

b. the Liability for Incurred Claims (“LIC”), comptising the fulfillment cash flows (“FCE”) related to
past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts held at the end of each reporting period is the

sum of:

a the remaining coverage; and

b. the incurred claims, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the
reporting date.
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance Contracts (continued)

Measurement (continued)

For insurance contracts issued, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the LRC is:

a. increased for premiums received in the period
; decreased for insurance acquisition cash flows paid in the petiod;
c. decreased for the amounts of expected premium receipts tecognised as insutance revenue for the

services provided in the period recognised in profit or loss over the expired portion of the coverage
petiod based on the passage of time.

For reinsurance contracts held, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the remaining coverage is:

a. increased for ceding premiums paid in the period;
: increased for broker fees paid in the period, if any; and
G decreased for the expected amounts of ceding premiums and broker fees, if any, recognised as

reinsurance expenses for the services received in the period recognised in profit or loss over the
expired portion of the coverage period based on the passage of time.

The Company does not adjust the LRC for insurance contracts issued and the remaining coverage for
reinsurance contracts held for the effect of the time value of money, because insurance premiums ate due
within the coverage period of contracts, which is one year ot less. The Company adjusts the remaining
coverage for reinsurance contracts held for the effect of the risk of reinsurer’s non- performance.

Onerous contract

The Company assumes that no contracts are onerous at initial tecognition, unless facts and circumstances
indicate otherwise. If facts and circumstances indicate that some contracts are onerous, an additional
assessment is performed to distinguish onerous contracts from non-onerous ones.

If facts and circumstances indicate that a group of insurance contracts measuted under the PAA is onerous
on initial recognition ot becomes onerous subsequently, the Company establishes a loss component as the
excess of the fulfilment cash flows that relate to the remaining coverage of the group over the catrying
amount of the liability for remaining coverage of the group. The loss component is remeasured at each
subsequent reporting date.

When a loss is recognised on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts or
on addition of onerous undetlying insurance contracts to that group, the carrying amount of the asset for
remaining coverage for reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA is increased by the amount of
income recognised in profit or loss and a loss-recovery component is established or adjusted for the amount
of income recognised. The referred income is calculated by multiplying the loss recognised on underlying
insurance contracts by the percentage of claims on underlying insurance contracts that the Company
expects to tecover from the reinsurance contract held that are entered into before or at the same time as
the loss is recognised on the undetlying insurance contracts.

When undetlying insurance contracts are included in the same group with insurance contracts issued that
are not reinsured, the Company applies a systematic and rational method of allocation to determine the
portion of losses that relates to underlying insurance contracts.
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Insurance Contracts (continued)
Insurance revenue

The insurance revenue for the period is the amount of expected premium receipts allocated to the period.
The Company allocates the expected premium receipts to each period of insurance contract setvices on the
basis of the passage of time.

Insurance expense

Insurance service expenses include the following:

o] incurred claims for the period.

o] other incurred directly attributable expenses.

o insurance acquisition cash flows expense.

o} An element of tme value of money of LIC for the period.

Insurance acquisition costs

Insurance acquisition cash flows are the costs that are ditectly associated with selling, underwriting and
starting a group of insurance contracts (issued or expected to be issued) and that are directly attributable to
a portfolio of insurance contracts. Directly attributable expenses are the costs that can be fully or partially
attributed to the fulfillment of the groups of insurance contracts. The Company allocates the attributable
costs based on a number of drivers. Both acquisition and atttibutable costs fall under the insurance setvice
expense. While the non-attributable costs are reported under other operating expenses.

Insurance finance income or expenses and reissuance finance expense or income

Insurance finance income or expenses and reinsurance finance expense or income comprise the change in
the carrying amount of the group of insurance contracts atising from:

o the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and
° the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and
° the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

For contracts measured under the PAA, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses
are:

® interest accreted on the LIC & Assets of incutred claims (“AIC”); and

. the effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial instruments is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (or stage 3), for which interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision) and
are recognised within ‘interest income’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Company’s rights to receive payment have been
established.
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the ptimary
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The Company’s financial
statements are presented in Arab Emirates Ditham (“AED”), which is the Company’s functional and
presentatlon currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions ate translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates, are generally recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within “Investment income”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign cutrency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss, and translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equities classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Employee benefits
Defined contribution pian

UAE national employees of the Company are members of the Government-managed retitement pension
and social security benefit scheme pursuant to UAE labour law no. 7 of 1999 and Federal Law No. (55) of
2023 on Pension and Social Security . The only obligation of the Company with respect to the retirement
pension and social security scheme is to make the specified contributions.

Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity

Provision is also made for the full amount of end of service indemnity due to non-UAE national employees
in accotdance with the UAE Labout Law and is calculated in line with the requirements of the UAE Labour
Law.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shateholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial
statements in the year in which the dividend is approved by the Company’s shareholders.
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&4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are catried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any identified

impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s catrying amount ot recognised as a separate asset, as
apptopriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Company and the cost of the item can be measuted teliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the statement of profit or loss duting the reporting year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amounts of the
assets, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Years
Furniture and fixtures 4
Office equipment 4
Motor vehicles 4
Computer equipment 4

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the catrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise computer software and are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
identified impairment losses, if any. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual
tepotting year, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. The
useful lives considered in the calculation of amortisation is 5 - 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting year, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Whete it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets ate also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated futute cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
curtent market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

Whete an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognised for futute opetating losses.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the repotrting year, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, it
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as
an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be treceived, and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.

Share capital

Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Leases

The Company leases various offices. Rental contracts are typically annually renewable with the option of
termination during the contract year subject to setrving relevant notice year.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease ate initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable,
® variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date, .
® amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees,
® the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
® payments of penaldes for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising that
option.
Lease payments to be made undet reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability. Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period 5o as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each petiod.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to bottow the funds necessaty to obtain an asset of similar value to the tight-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease income from operating leases whete the Company is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the
cartying amount of the undetlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis
as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of financial position based on
their nature.
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following;

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and

restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated ovet the shottet of the asset's useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the group is reasonably certain to exetcise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or
loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a purchase option.

All lease contracts of the Company meet above ctiteria of short-term leases.
Financial assets
Classification and measurement - Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial
asset s under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established
by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss (FVIPL). Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets classified as at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Specifically:

® debt instruments that ate held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI), are subsequently measured at amortised cost;

(ii) debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the
contractual cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows that
are SPPI, are subsequently measured at fair value through other comptehensive income
(FVTOCD);

(ii) all other debt instruments (e.g. debt instruments managed on a fair value basis or held for sale)
and equity investments are subsequently measured at FVTPL. However, the Company may make
the following irtevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset on an asset-
by-asset basis:

a. the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquitet in
a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, in othet comprehensive income (OCI); and

b the Company may irrevocably designate a debt instrument that meets the amottised cost or FVTOCI
critetia as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
(teferred to as the fair value option).
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Equity instruments at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments/funds at FVTOCI are initially measured at fait value plus transaction
costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses atising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cumulative changes in fair value of
securities. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the investments
in equity instruments/funds but reclassified to retained earnings. The Company has designated all
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as FVTOCL

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Company’s
right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit
or loss.

Debt instruments at amortised cost or at FVI'OCI

When a debt instrament measured at FVTOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain/loss previously
recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI are subject to
impairment.

Financial assets at FVIPL

Financial assets at FVIPL are:

® assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; or/and

(ii) assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect conttactual cash flows ot held to
collect and sell; or

(iif) assets designated at FVTPL using the fair value option.

These assets ate measured at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit
or loss,

Derecognition of financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company tetains
substantially all the tisks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowings for the proceeds received.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Botrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit ot loss over the year of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the
loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferted until the draw-down occuts. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled ot expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any
noncash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance
COSsts.

Botrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the perdod of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessatily take a substantial
year of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings, pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets, is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the petiod in which they are incurred.
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with
otiginal maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are within the scope of
TFRS 9 expected credit loss calculations for the assessment of impairment.

Fixed deposits

Fixed deposits are deposits held with banks with original maturities of more than three months, which are
initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Fixed deposits are within the
scope of IFRS 9 expected credit loss calculation for the assessment of impairment.

Taxation

Income tax comptises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the profit and loss account
except to the extent that relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in
which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current

Provision fot cuttent taxation is based on taxable income for the year determined in accordance with the
prevailing law for taxation of income. The chatge for current tax is calculated using prevailing tax rates ot
tax rates expected to apply to the profit for the year, if enacted. The charge for current tax also includes
adjustments, where considered necessary, to provision for tax made in previous years arising from
assessments finalised during the cutrent year for such years.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is accounted for using the statement of financial position liability method in tespect of
all tempotary differences atising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of the taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the differences reverse
based on tax rates that have been enacted ot substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax is
chatged or credited in the profit and loss account, except in the case of items credited or charged to
statement of comprehensive income in which case it is included in statement of comprehensive income.
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described above in these financial
statements, management is requited to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and undetlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future period
if the revision affects both current and future periods. The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Measurement of the expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance

The measurement of ECL is a significant estimate that involves determination of methodology, models and
data inputs. The following components have a major impact on the credit loss allowance for debt
instruments carried at amortised cost, FVT'OCI investments, other receivables, bank balances and fixed
deposits probability of default (“PD”), exposure at default (‘EAD”), and loss given default (“LGD”) and
the historical loss experience per ageing bucket has the major impact on the credit loss allowance for
Insurance and other receivables. The Company regulatly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the
models to reduce any differences between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss experience.

Insurance and reinsurance contracts

The Company applies the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”) to simplify the measurement of
insurance contracts. When measuring liabilities for incurred claims, the Company discounts cash flows that
are expected to occut more than one year after the date on which the claims are incurred and includes an
explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk.

Liability for remaining coverage

For insurance acquisition cashflows, the company is eligible and choose to recognise the payment as an
expense immediately (coverage petiod of a year or less) for all acquisition cashflows except for commission
expense which is capitalised.

The Company includes insurance acquisition cash flows in the measurement of a group of insurance
conttacts if they are directly attributable to either the individual contracts in a group, the group itself or the
pottfolio of insurance contracts to which the group belongs. The Company estimates, at a portfolio level,
insurance acquisition cash flows not ditectly attributable to the group but directly attributable to the
portfolio. The Company then allocates them to the group of newly written and renewed contracts on a
systematic and rational basis.

Liability for incurred claims

The ultimate cost of outstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial claims projection
techniques, such as Chain Ladder and Bornheutter-Ferguson methods.

The main assumption undetlying these techniques is that a Company’s past claims development experience
can be used to project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. These methods
extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per claim (including claims handling
costs), and claim numbers based on the obsetrved development of eatlier years and expected loss ratios.
Historical claims development is mainly analysed by accident years, but can also be further analysed by
geographical area, as well as by significant business lines and claim types. Large claims are usually separately
addressed, either by being reserved at the face value of loss adjuster estimates or separately projected in
order to reflect their future development. In most cases, no explicit assumptions are made regarding futute
rates of claims inflation or loss ratios. Instead, the assumptions used are those implicit in the historical
claims development data on which the projections are based.
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4 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Liability for incurred claims (continued)

Additional qualitative judgement is used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in future,
{e.g., to reflect one-off occurrences, changes in external or market factors such as public attitudes to
claiming, economic conditions, levels of claims inflation, judicial decisions and legislation, as well as internal
factors such as portfolio mix, policy featutes and claims handling procedures) in order to atrive at the
estimated ultimate cost of claims that present the probability weighted expected value outcome from the
range of possible outcomes, taking account of all the uncertainties involved.

Other key circumstances affecting the reliability of assumptions include vatiation in interest rates, delays in
settlement and changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Discount rates

The Company use bottom-up approach to derive the discount rate. Under this approach, the discount rate
is determined as the tisk-free yield, adjusted for differences in liquidity charactetistics between the financial
assets used to derive the risk-free yield and the televant liability cash flows (known as an ‘illiquidity
premium’). The risk-free rate was derived using swap rates available in the market denominated in the same
currency as the product being measured. When swap rates are not available, highly liquid sovereign bonds
with a AAA credit rating were used. Management uses judgment to assess liquidity characteristics of the
liability cash flows.

Discount rates applied for discounting of futute cash flows are listed below:

1 year 3 years 5 yeats 10 years 20 years
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Insurance contracts issued
AED 4.72% 517% 4.80% 4.42% 4.86% 426% 4.54% 433% 224% 4.35%
Reinsurance contracts held
AED 4.72% 517% 4.80% 4.42% 4.86% 4.26% 4.54% 4.33% 2.24% 4.35%

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

The Company use Mack method ot bootstrapping to determine its risk adjustment for non-financial risk.
The bootstrap effectively allows the Company to measure the uncertainty about the amount and timing of
the cash flows that arise from non-financial risk since bootstrapping the triangles aims to illustrate the
vatiability of the paid claims.

The risk adjustment for non-financial dsk is the compensation that the Company requires for beating the
uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of groups of insurance contracts, The risk
adjustment reflects an amount that an insurer would rationally pay to remove the uncertainty that future
cash flows will exceed the expected value amount.

The Company has estimated the risk adjustment using a confidence level (probability of sufficiency)
approach at the 80th percentile. That is, the Company has assessed its indifference to uncertainty for all
product lines (as an indication of the compensation that it requires for bearing non-financial risk) as being
equivalent to the 80th percentile confidence level less the mean of an estimated probability distribution of
the future cash flows. The Company has estimated the probability distribution of the future cash flows, and
the additional amount above the expected present value of future cash flows required to meet the target
petcentiles.
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5 Property and equipment
Furniture Office Motor Computer
and fixtures equipment vehicles equipment Total
AED AED AED AED AED
Cost
At 1 January 2023 3,046,442 1,203,175 401,556 5,644,390 10,295,563
Additions during the year 56,070 13,711 - 72694 142,475
Disposals during the year - - - (2,950) (2,950)
Write offs during the yeat (252,443) {4,505) - (759,442) (1,016,390)
At 31 December 2023 2,850,069 1,212,381 401,556 4,954,692 9,418,698
Additions during the year - - 554,997 81,373 636,370
Disposals during the year - - (401,5506) (8,277)  (409,833)
Write offs duting the year (354,860)  (249,630) - (112,631)  (717,121)
At 31 December 2024 2,495,209 962,751 554,997 4,915,157 8,928,114
Accumulated depreciation
At 1January 2023 2,625,913 1,091,481 401,556 4,904,997 9,023,947
Charge for the year 255,509 66,467 - 387,492 709,468
Disposals during the year - - - (2,949) (2,949)
Write offs during the year (115,150) (2,440) - (678,928)  (796,518)
At 31 December 2023 2,766,272 1,155,508 401,556 4,610,612 8,933,948
Charge for the year 37,972 32,964 57,812 236,816 365,564
Disposals during the year - - (401,553) (8,274)  (409,827)
Write offs during the year (354,848) (249,629) - (112,624)  (717,101)
At 31 December 2024 2,449,396 938,843 57,815 4,726,530 8,172,584
Net book value
At 31 December 2024 _ 45,813 23,908 497,182 188,627 755,530
At 31 December 2023 83,797 56,873 - 344,080 484,750
6 Intangible assets
Computer
software
AED
Cost
At 31 December 2022 15,595,372
Additions duting the year 646,355
Written offs during the year (1,329,490)
At 31 December 2023 14,912,237
Additions during the year 876,089
At 31 December 2024 15,788,326
Accumulated amortisation
At 31 December 2022 9,953,552
Charge for the year 1,514,318
Written offs during the year (1,025,025)
At 31 December 2023 1,0442,845
Charge for the year 1,608,543
At 31 December 2024 12,051,388
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2024 3,736,938
At 31 December 2023 4,469,392
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7 Financial assets

The Company’s financial investments at the end of reporting year are detailed below:

Investments at FVTOCI
Quoted debt securities

Quoted equity secutities
Allowance for expected credit loss

2024 2023

AED AED
218,769,807 131,536,348
4,033,534 3,835,742
(285,661) (188,019)
222,517,680 135,184,071

The composition of financial investment split between inside the UAE and outside the UAE as at
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 is as follows:

Inside UAE Outside UAE Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
AED AED AED AED AED AED
FVTOCI:
Quoted debt
securities 142,617,393 63,981,291 75,866,753 (67,367,038 218,484,146 131,348,329
Quoted equity
securities 4,033,534 3,835,742 - - 4,033,534 3,835,742
146,650,927 67,817,033 75,866,753 (7,367,038 222,517,680 135,184,071

FVTOCI investments comprise of quoted equity and debt securities within the G.C.C. region except one
investment valued at AED 9.1 million as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: AED 8.7 million)
which is an investment outside the G.C.C. region. The Company has designated all investments in equity
securities that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI. Debt secutities catry an interest rate ranging from
1.75% to 7.75% per annum (31 December 2023: 1.75% to 6.75%) and they are redeemable at par from
2025 to 2035 (31 December 2023: 2024 to 2033) based on theitr maturity dates. There are no significant
concentration of credit risk for debt securities and the catrying amount reflected above represents the
Company’s maximum exposute to credit risk for such assets.

The movement in the financial investments is as follows:

Balance at 1 January 2024

Additions duting the year

Matured duting the year

Net change in fair value

Impairment charges

Amortisadon of premium on FVTOCI debt
investments to profit or loss

Allowance for expected credit loss

Balance at 31 December 2024

FVTOCI FVTOCI
debt equity Total
AED AED AED
131,348,329 3,835,742 135,184,071
96,544,785 - 96,544,785
(11,282,338) - (11,282,338)
1,648,938 428,470 2,077,408
- (230,678) (230,678)
322,074 - 322,074
(97,642) - (97,642)
218,484,146 4,033,534 222,517,680
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7 Financial assets {(continued)

Balance at 1 January 2023

Additions during the yeat

Matured during the year

Net change in fair value

Capital reduction in equity

Impairment charges

Amortisation of premium on FVTOCI debt
investments to profit or loss

Allowance for expected credit loss

Balance at 31 December 2023

Details of provision for expected credit loss wete as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the yeat
Provision for expected credit loss during the year
Balance at the end of the year

FVTOCI FVTOCI
debt equity Total
AED AED AED
106,416,035 1994312 108,410,347
22,679,567 1,958,380 24,637,947
(1,873,230) - (1,873,230)
4,166,202 439,830 4,606,032
- (77,662) (77,662)
- (479,118) (479,118)
4,172 . 4172
(44,417) - (44,417
131,348,329 3,835,742 135,184,071
2024 2023
AED AED
188,019 143,604
97,642 44,415
285,661 188,019

There were no reclassifications between financial investment categories during 2024 and 2023.

All the investments in scope of the expected credit loss model are in stage 1.

8 Statutory deposit

A deposit of AED 10 million (31 December 2023: AED 10 million) has been placed with a local bank (the
“Bank”), in accordance with Article (42) of the Federal Law No. (48) of 2023. This deposit has been pledged
to the Bank as security against a guarantee issued by the Bank in favour of the Central Bank of the United
Arab Emirates (“CBUAE”) for the same amount. This deposit cannot be withdrawn without prior approval
of the CBUAE and bears an interest rate of 5.15% per annum (31 December 2023: 5.15% per annum).
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9 Insurance and reinsurance contracts

The breakdown of groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued, and reinsurance contracts held, that are
in an asset position and those in a liability position is set out in the table below:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net
AED AED AED AED AED AED
Insurance
contracts
issued
Life and Medical - (108,675,562) (108,675,562) - (148,209,844) (148,209,844)
General and
Motor - (370,918,036) (370,918,036) - (216,460,448) (216,460,448)
Total insurance
contracts
issued - (479,593,598) (479,593,598) - (364,670,292) (364,670,292)
Reinsurance
contracts held
Life and Medical 51,708,098 (26,787,062) 24,921,036 75,255,080 - 75,255,080
General and
Motor 179,870,155 (1,133,036) 178,737,119 101,057,406  (1,398,256) 99,659,150
Total
reinsurance

contracts held 231,578,253 (27,920,098) 203,658,155 176,312,486  (1,398,256) 174,914,230

Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued showing the liability for remaining
coverage and the liability for incurred claims.

The Company disaggregates information to provide disclosute in respect of major product lines sepatately: Life
and Medical and General and Motor. This disaggregation has been determined based on how the company is
managed.

The roll-forward of the net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued, showing the liability for remaining
coverage and the liability for incurred claims, is disclosed in the table on the next page.
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Notes to the financial staternents
For the year ended 31 December 2024

10 Other receivables

Accrual of interest and other income
Advances and prepayments
Other receivables

Allowance for expected credit loss

2024 2023
AED AED
2,726,910 1,063,049
3,603,433 2,765,561
8,223,079 5,641,678
14,553,422 9,470,288
(4,944,756) (4,944,733)
9,608,666 4,525,555

Other receivables pertain to an amount of AED 3.9 million (31 December 2023: AED 3.9 million) for the
exposute to a foreign bank that does not meet the recognition and classification requirements of bank

balances and fixed deposits.

Movement in the allowance for expected credit loss was as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Chatge during the year
Balance at the end of the year

11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand
Current accounts with banks
Fixed deposits with original maturities of three months or less

12 Deposits

Fixed deposits with original maturities greater than three months
Fixed deposits under lien

Allowance for expected credit loss
Total fixed deposits

2024 2023

AED AED
4,944,733 2,751,057
23 2,193,676
4,944,756 4944733
2024 2023

AED AED
18,298 23,186
97,489,967 28,482,204
20,000,000 2
117,508,265 28,505,390
2024 2023

AED AED
177,584,958 243,474,313
864,147 600,000
(71,217) (122,537)
178,377,388 243,951,776

Certain fixed deposits with carrying amount of AED 864,147 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023
AED 600,000) are under lien against letters of guarantee amounting to AED 590,000 (31 December 2023:
AED 550,000). The intetest rates on fixed deposits with banks range between 4% to 5.6% per annum
(31 December 2023: 3.25% to 5.65% per annum). All fixed deposits ate held in local banks in the United

Arab Emirates.
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

12 Deposits (continued)

As of 31 December 2024, fixed deposits with original maturities greater than three months disclosed above
include deposits amounting to AED 82,855,670 (31 December 2023: AED 61,989,754) which are pledged

against bank borrowings.

Details of allowance for expected credit loss as per IFRS 9 were as follows:

2024 2023

AED AED

Balance at the beginning of the year 122,537 138,000
Reversal of expected credit loss during the year (51,320) (15,463)
Balance at the end of the yeat 71,217 122,537

All the bank balances and fixed deposits in scope of the expected credit loss model are in stage 1 and there
have been no movements between the stages during the year.

13 Share capital

2024 2023
AED AED
Authotised, issued and fully paid:
121.275 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each 121,275,000 121,275,000

(31 December 2023: 121.275 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each)

14 Reserves

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law, and the Company’s Atrticles of Association, the Company has
established a statutory reserve by approptiation of 10% of profit for each year until the reserve equals 50% of
the paid-up share capital. This reserve is not available for distribution except as stipulated by the Law.
Accordingly, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company transferred AED 1,543,864 to statutory
reserves (31 December 2023: AED 1,454,118).

Voluntary reserve

As per the Company’s Articles of Association, voluntaty reserve can be created upon a recommendation of the
Board of Directors and this resetve cannot be utilised for any other putpose unless approved by the
Shareholders’ General Assembly. No transfer to voluntaty reserve was made during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

Reinsurance reserve

In accordance with Article 34 of the Insurance Authority’s Board of Directors Decision No. (23) of 2019,
the Company has transferred AED 1,391,048 to the ‘Reinsurance Reserve’ being 0.5% of the total insurance
premium ceded to reinsurers during the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31 December 2023:
AED 1,093,105). The Company shall accumulate such provision year on year and shall not dispose of the
resetve without the written approval of the Assistant Governor of the Banking and Insurance Supetvision

Department within CBUAE.
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

15 Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity

2024 2023
AED AED
Balance at 1 January 6,345,883 6,256,759
Charge for the year 1,094,838 1,256,087
Payment during the year (680,093) (1,166,963)
Balance at 31 December 6,760,628 6,345,883
16 Bank borrowings
2024 2023
AED AED
Bank overdrafts 74,911,911 59,380,752

Overdraft facilities are secured against fixed deposit with carrying value of AED 82,855,670 (31 December
2023: AED 61,989,754). The overdraft catries an intetest rate of 0.5% above the interest rate earned on the
fixed deposits secured against the overdraft facilities and are repayable on demand.

17 Other payables

2024 2023

AED " AED

Accrued expenses 2,001,972 6,443,127
Other payable balances 2,333,622 973,161
Due to related parties 1,342,035 4,113,408
Payables to suppliers 663,100 555,939
6,340,729 12,085,635

Accrued expenses relate to amounts incurred in the normal coutse of business such as fees payable to
regulators and other professionals.

18 Deferred taxation

2024 2023
AED AED
Deferred tax atising in respect of:
Recognised in OCI:
Net change in fair value of debt securities designated at
FVTOCI (148,405) -
Deferred taxes atising from temporary differences and unused tax losses are summarised as follows:
Recognised in Net
other balance at
Net balance at  Recognisedin comprehensive 31 December
1 January 2024 profit or loss income 2024
AED AED AED AED
Deferred tax liability - - (148,405) (148,405)

38



Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

19 Income tax expense

Income statement:
Cutrent tax

Statement of comprehensive income
Cutrent tax
Deferred tax

Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit:

Profit for the yeat before taxation
Basic exemption limit
Tax applicable profit

Tax at the applicable rate of 9%

Effect of items that are not considered in determining taxable income -

net
Exempt income
Non-deductible expenses
Income tax expense

Profit for the year after taxation

20 Insurance service expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Incurred claims and other expenses
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows
(Reversal) /losses on onetous contracts

Changes to liabilities for incurred claims

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Incurred claims and other expenses
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows
(Reversal) /losses on onerous contracts

Changes to liabilities for incurred claims

2024 2023
AED AED
(1,487,606) -
(38,562) =
(148,405) -
2024 2023
AED AED
16,926,245 -
(375,000) =
16,551,245 <
(1,489,612) -
19,475 -
(17,469) -
(1,487,606) -
15,438,639 =

Life and General
Medical and Motor Total
AED AED AED
247,319,667 316,952,818 564,272,485
31,040,203 52,622,454 83,662,657
(5,094,149) 4,226,867 (867,282)
(64,553,806) (103,299,034) (167,852,840)
208,711,915 270,503,105 479,215,020
290,945,076 143,005,477 433,950,553
36,078,905 38,565,009 74,643,914
5,933,786  (5,267,649) 666,137
(46,465,737)  (43,354,169) (89,819,906)
286,492,030 132,948,668 419,440,698
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

21 Total investment income and net insurance financial result

The table below presents an analysis of total investment income and insurance financial result recognised

in profit ot loss and OCI in the year:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Investment income - net
Amounts recognised in the profit or loss

Interest income

Dividend income from financial investments

Impairment losses on financial investments at
FVTOCI

Other income

Insurance finance income/(expense) from
insurance contracts issued

Interest accreted to insurance contracts using current
financial assumptions

Due to changes in interest rates and other financial
assumptions

Total insurance finance expense from insurance
contracts issued

Reinsurance finance income/(expense) from
reinsurance contracts held

Interest accreted to reinsurance contracts using
current financial assumptions

Changes in non-performance risk of reinsurer

Due to changes in interest rates and other financial
assumptions

Reinsurance finance income from reinsurance
contracts held

Net insurance finance (expense)/income

Life and General and
Medical Motox Total
AED AED AED
4,850,202 11,671,303 16,521,505
- 216,396 216,396
- (230,676) (230,676)
62,905 31,349 94,254
4,913,107 11,688,372 16,601,479
(3,328,894)  (10,396,752)  (13,725,646)
64,771 12,928 77,699
(3,264,123)  (10,383,824)  (13,047,947)
5,578,866 8,645,322 14,224,188
(3,294,350) 2,333,391 (960,959)
(101,410) 131,084 29,674
2,183,106 11,109,797 13,292,903
(1,081,017) 725,973 (355,044)
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21 Total investment income and net insurance financial result (continued)

The table below presents an analysis of total investment income and insurance financial result recognised
in profit or loss and OCI in the year:

Life and General and
For the year ended 31 December 2023 Medical Motor Total
AED AED AED
Investment income - net
Amounts recognised in the profit or loss
Interest income 4,792,379 9,477,315 14,269,694
Dividend income from financial investments - 239,866 239,866
Realised gain on disposal of financial investments at
FVIPL = 864,540 864,540
Impairment losses on financial investments at
FVTOCI - (479,118) {479,118)
Other income - 8,400 8,400
4,792,379 10,111,003 14,903,382
Insurance finance income/ (excpense) from insurance contracts
issued
Interest accreted to insurance contracts using
current financial assumptions (3,562,616) (6,768,598) (10,331,214)
Due to changes in intetest rates and other
financial assumptions 54,512 (33,285) 21,227
Total insurance finance expense from insurance
contracts issued (3,508,104) (6,801,883) (10,309,987)
Reinsurance finance income (expense) from reinsnrance
contracts held
Interest accreted to reinsurance contracts using
current financial assumptions 12,774,167 10,818,922 23,593,089
Changes in non-performance risk of reinsurer 998,400 (2,875,752) (1,877,352)
Due to changes in interest rates and othetr
financial assumptions (454,177) (317,197) (771,374
Reinsurance finance expense from reinsurance
contracts held 13,318,390 7,625,973 20,944,363
Net insurance finance income 9,810,286 824,090 10,634,376

22 Social contributions

Social contributions during the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to AED 8,700 (31 December
2023: AED 15,281).
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23 Basic and diluted earnings per share

2024 2023
Profit for the year aftet tax (in AED) 15,438,639 14,541,174
Number of shares 121,275,000 121,275,000
Basic and diluted eatnings per share after tax (in AED) 0.13 0.12

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the number of weighted average
shares outstanding duting the reporting year. Diluted earnings per share is equivalent to basic earnings per
share as the Company did not issue any new instrument that would impact earnings per share when
executed.

24 Related party balances and transactions

The Company, in the notmal course of business, collects premiums, settles claims and enters into
transactions with other business enterprises that fall within the definition of a related patty. Related parties
include the Company’s major shareholders, directors and businesses controlled by them and their families
over which they exercise significant management influence as well as key management personnel. The
Company’s management believes that the terms of such transactions ate not significantly different from
those that could have been obtained from third parties.

At the end of the reporting year, amounts due from/to related parties were as follows:

2024 2023
AED AED
Due from related parties

Due from Parent Company (insurance contract liabilities) 1,726,948 18,640,376
Due from Directors (insurance contract liabilities) 200,602 1,093

Due from other related parties undet commeon control (insurance
contract liabilities) 28,638,058 10,160,171
30,565,608 28,801,640

Due to related parties
Due to Parent company (other payables) (1,773,553) (4,113,407)

Balances receivables from related parties are interest free and repayable on demand.

2024 2023
AED AED

Balances
Fixed deposits placed with Parent company 109,484,594 119,797 824
Bank balances placed with Parent company 21,577,467 17,505,602
Bank borrowing from Parent company (49,999,009) -
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24 Related party balances and transactions (continued)

During the year, the Company entered the following transactions with related parties:

2024

AED

Insurance revenue (Parent company) 126,036,036
Insurance revenue (Directors) 118,335
Insutance revenue (other related parties) 82,159,719
Insurance service expenses (Parent company) (69,505,678)
Insurance service expenses (Directors) (42,956)
Insurance service expenses (other related parties) (48,753,849)
Other expenses (Parent company) (1,957,325)
Investment income (Parent company) 4,671,013

2023
AED

121,284,186
82,150
46,629,211
(63,570,845)
(384,294)
(44,090,114)
(3.929,816)
6,130,498

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has purchased financial assets at AED 96.5 million
(31 December 2023: AED 22.7 million) and no financial assets were sold (31 December 2023: 1.9 million)

through the Parent company / from other related parties.

Key management personnel compensation

2024 2023
AED AED
Board of Directors’ remuneration 1,141,979 1,402,269
Short-term benefits 5,757,434 6,794,571
Long-term benefits 284,378 313,694
7,183,791 8,510,534

25 Other operating expenses
2024 2023
AED AED
Professional fees 5,266,958 3,817,777
Staff cost 3,652,051 3,523,656
Information technology 2,008,151 1,594,942
Board of Directors’ remuneration 1,141,979 1,402,269
Amortisation of intangible assets 691,673 651,157
Rental costs — operating leases 399,432 403,282
Communication expenses 275,997 263,050
Depreciation of property and equipment & write off 157,203 371,032
Utilities and maintenance 100,655 79,740
Administration expenses 79,016 74,328
Travel and entertainment expenses 44,593 43,567
Bank charges 39,191 38,679
Provision for bad debt 36,229 1,989,994
License expenses and membership fees 23,841 28,544
Marketing expenses 11,167 4,536
13,928,136 14,286,553

Other opetating expenses relate to items that do not form part of insurance service result.
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26 Other underwriting income

Other underwriting income includes admin fee earned for Credit Islamic Business on fronting arrangements
with other insurance companies in the UAE.

27 Contingent liabilities

2024 2023
AED AED
Letters of guarantee 10,605,000 10,567,410

Lettets of guarantee includes AED 10 million (31 December 2023: AED 10 million) issued in favour of the
CBUAE . The above guarantees were issued in the notmal course of business. The Company, in common with
the significant majority of insurers, is subject to litigation in the normal course of its business. The Company,
based on independent legal advice, does not expect that the outcome of these court cases will have a material
impact on the Company’s financial performance or financial position,

28 Insurance risk

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty
of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and
therefore unpredictable. The Company writes the general, medical and life insurance contracts. General
insurance contracts of the Company include Liability, Property, Motor, Fire, Marine and Engineering
insurance contracts. Medical insurance contracts include both individual and group medical insurance
contracts. Life insurance contracts include group, retail and credit life insurance contracts.

The principal risk the Company faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit
payments ot the timing thereof, differ from expectations. This is influenced by the frequency of claims,
sevetity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of long-term claims. Therefore, the
objective of the Company is to ensure that sufficient resetrves are available to cover these liabilities.

Risk management framework

The Boatd of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's risk
management framework. The Boatd has established the Audit and Risk Committee, which is responsible
for developing and monitoring the Company's risk management policies. The Committee repotts regularly
to the Board of Directors on its activities.

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Company, to set apptoptiate risk limits and controls, and to monitor tisks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are teviewed regulatly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Company's activities.

The Company's Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the
Company's risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company. The Company's Audit and Risk Committee is
assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit and Risk functions.

Two key elements of the Company's insurance risk management framework are its underwriting strategy
and reinsurance strategy, as discussed on the next page.
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28 Insurance risk (continued)
Underwriting strategy

The Company's underwriting strategy is to build balanced portfolios based on a large number of similar
risks. This reduces the variability of the portfolio’s outcome.

The underwrtiting strategy is set out by the Company that establishes the classes of business to be written,
the territoties in which business is to be written and the industry sectots in which the Company is prepared
to underwrite. This strategy is cascaded by the business units to individual underwriters through detailed
underwriting authorities that set out the limits that any one underwtiter can write by line size, class of
business, territory and industry in order to ensure appropriate risk selection within the portfolio.

Reinsurance strategy

The Company reinsures a portion of the insurance risks it underwrites in order to control its exposure to
losses and protect capital resources.

Ceded reinsurance contains credit risk, as discussed in the financial risk management note. The Company
has a Reinsurance department that is tesponsible for setting the minimum secutity ctitetia for acceptable
reinsurance and monitoring the purchase of reinsurance by the business units against those criteria. The
department monitors developments in the reinsurance programme and its ongoing adequacy.

The Company enters into a combination of proportionate and non-proportionate reinsurance treaties to
reduce the net exposure to the Company. In addition, underwriters are allowed to buy facultative
reinsurance in certain specified circumstances.

Frequency and severity of claims

The Company manages insurance risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance
arrangements and ptroactive claims handling. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure that the
underwritten risks are well diversified in terms of type and amount of risk, industry and geography.
Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria, as well as the use of reinsurance
arrangements,

The Company has the right not to renew individual policies, re-price the risk, impose deductibles and reject
the payment of a fraudulent claim for both short and long-term insurance contracts. Insurance contracts
also entitle the Company to putsue thitrd parties for payment of some or all costs (for example, subrogation).

The reinsurance atrangements include excess of loss and catasttophe coverage. The effect of such
teinsurance arrangements is that the Company should not suffer net insurance losses of a set limit of AED
700,000 pet vehicle/event for motor insurance and AED 100,000 per member for medical insurance class
of business in any policy (2023: AED 700,000 for motor insurance and AED 100,000 for medical
insurance). Similarly, net loss retained for general lines of business will not exceed AED 2,250,000 and for
event loss AED 4,500,000 (2023: net loss retained for business will not exceed 2,250,000 and for event loss
AED 4,500,000). In addition to the overall Company teinsurance program, business units are permitted to
purchase additional facultative reinsurance protection, if needed.
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28 Insurance risk (continued)

Frequency and severity of claims (continued)

The following tables disclose the concentration of insurance liabilities by line of business. The amounts are
the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities (gross and net of reinsurance) arising from the insurance

contracts:

As at 31 December 2024
Gross Reinsurance Net
AED AED AED
Life and Medical 108,675,562 (24,921,036) 83,754,526
Motot and General 370,918,036 (178,737,119) 192,180,917
479,593,598 (203,658,155) 275,935,443

As at 31 December 2023
Gross Reinsurance Net
AED AED AED
Life and Medical 148,209,844 (75,255,080) 72,954,764
Motor and General 216,460,448 {(99,659,150) 116,801,298
364,670,292 (174,914,230) 189,756,062

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments

Claims on insurance contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Company is liable for all insured
events that occutred during the tetm of the contract, even if the loss is discovered after the end of the contract
term. The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncettainty than the estimation of the
cost of settling claims already notified to the Company, where information about the claim event is available.
IBNR claims may not be apparent to the insured until several months, quarters & sometimes years after the
event that gave tise to the claims. For some insurance contracts, the IBNR proportion of the total liability is
high and will typically display greater variations between initial estimates and final outcomes because of the
greater degree of difficulty of estimating these liabilities. In estimating the liability for the cost of reported claims
not yet paid, the Company considets information available from loss adjusters and information on the cost of
settling claims with similar characteristics in previous petiods. The Company involved an independent external
actuaty as well if deemed necessary. Large claims are assessed on a case-by-case basis or projected sepatately in
order to allow for the possible distortive effect of their development and incidence on the rest of the portfolio.

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims, net of the expected
subrogation value and other recoveries. The Company takes all reasonable steps to ensutre that it has
apptoptiate information regarding its claims exposures. Howevert, given the uncertainty in establishing
some claims provisions, it is possible that the final outcome will prove to be different from the original
liability established.
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28 Insurance risk (continued)
Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments (continued)

The amount of insurance claims is in some cases sensitive to the level of court awards and to the
development of legal precedent on matters of contract and tort.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Group’s estimation
techniques are based on Actuarial calculation which can be based putely on historical development of claims
or Expected Loss Ratios ot a combination of both. The method and weightage are based on the merit of
the line of business. The Expected Loss-Ratio estimate is an impottant assumption in the estimation
technique and is based on previous years’ experience, adjusted for factors such as premium rate changes,
anticipated market expetience and historical claims inflation.

The initial estimate of the loss ratios used for the cutrent year before and after reinsurance are analysed
below by line of business whete the insured operates for cutrent and ptior year premium earned.

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Gross loss Net loss Gross loss Net loss
ratio ratio ratio ratio
Motor 106% 85% 67% 67%
Marine and aviation 12% 7% 7% 3%
Medical 79% 72% 104% 88%
Life 15% 2% 18% 2%

Engineering, fire, general

accidents and others 95% 66% 59% 40%

The Company believes that the claim liabilities under insurance contracts outstanding at the year-end are
adequate. However, these amounts are not certain and actual payments may differ from the claims liabilities
provided in the financial statements. The insurance claim liabilities are sensitive to the various assumptions.
It has not been possible to quantify the sensitivity of specific variable such as legislative changes ot
uncertainty in the estimation process.

A hypothetical 1% change in the loss ratio, net of reinsutance, would impact insurance service expenses as

follows:
For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023
AED AED

Impact of change in loss ratio by +/- 1%
Medical 1,054,804 1,147,102
Motor 910,476 327,895
Engineering, fire, general accidents and others 186,830 96,696
Life 420,752 {1793
Matine and aviation 12,234 412
2,585,096 1,583,827
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28 Insurance risk (continued)
Process used to decide on assumptions

The risks associated with insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number of variables that
complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. The Company uses assumptions based on a mixture of internal
and market data to measute its claims liabilities. Internal data is derived mostly from the Company’s
quartetly claims reports and screening of the actual insurance contracts cartied out at the end of the
reporting period to detive data for the contracts held. The Company has reviewed the individual contracts
and the actual exposure years of claims. This information is used to develop scenarios related to the latency
of claims that are used for the projections of the ultimate number of claims,

The Company uses several statistical methods to incorporate the various assumptions made in order to
estimate the ultimate cost of claims, The two methods more commonly used are the chain-ladder and the
Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods.

Chain-ladder methods may be applied to premiums, paid claims or incutred claims (for example, paid claims
plus case estimates). The basic technique involves the analysis of historical claims development factors and
the selection of estimated development factors based on this historical pattern. The selected development
factors are then applied to cumulative claims data for each accident year that is not yet fully developed to
produce an estimated ultimate claims cost for each accident year, Chain-ladder techniques are most
appropriate for those accident years and classes of business that have reached a relatively stable
development pattern. Chain-ladder techniques are less suitable in cases in which the insurer does not have
2 developed claims history for a particular class of business.

The Bornhuetter-Ferguson method uses a combination of 2 benchmark ot market- based estimate and an
estimate based on claims experience. The former is based on a measure of exposure such as premiums; the
latter is based on the paid or incurred claims to date. The two estimates are combined using a formula that
gives more weight to the experience-based estimate as time passes. This technique has been used in
situations in which developed claims experience was not available for the projection (recent accident yeats
ot new classes of business).

The choice of selected results for each accident year of each class of business depends on an assessment of
the technique that has been most approptiate to observed historical developments. In certain instances, this
has meant that a weighted average of different techniques have been selected for individual accident years
or groups of accident years within the same class of business, The Company has an internal actuary and
independent external actuaries are also involved in the valuation of technical reserves of the Company and
has used historical data for the past 9 yeats.

The Company did not change its assumptions for the valuation of the insurance contract liabilities during
the year other than those disclosed.

Concentration of insurance risk

Substantially all of the Company’s underwriting activities are carried out in the United Arab Emirates. In
common with other insurance companies, in otder to minimise financial exposure arising from large
insurance claims, the Company, in the normal course of business, enters into arrangement with other parties
for reinsurance purposes.

To minimise its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies, the Company primarily deals
with reputed counter patties and monitors the teceivable position from these parties on a regular basis.
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29 Capital risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which the Company considets to be the equity as shown
in the statement of financial position, are:

o to comply with the insurance capital requirements required by UAE Federal Law No. (48) of 2023
(previously Federal Law No. 6 of 2007, as amended), concerning Financial Regulations of
Insurance Companies issued by the Central Bank of United Arab Emirates and regulation of its
operatlons;
to protect its policyholders’ interests;

. to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

s to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing insurance contracts commensutately with
the level of risk.

In the UAE, the CBUAE specifies the minimum amount and type of capital that must be held by the
Company in addition to its insurance liabilities. The minimum required capital (presented in the table below)
must be maintained at all times throughout the year.

The table below summarises the minimum required capital of the Company and the total capital held.
As at 31 December

2024 2023

AED AED

Total capital held 121,275,000 121,275,000
Minimum regulatory capital 100,000,000 100,000,000

The CBUAE has issued resolution no. 42 for 2009 setting the minimum subsctibed ot paid up capital of
AED 100 million for establishing insurance companies and AED 250 million for reinsurance companies.
The resolution also stipulates that at least 75 percent of the capital of the insurance companies established
in the UAE should be owned by UAE or GCC national individuals or corporate bodies. The Company is
in compliance with these rules.

The solvency regulations identify the requited Solvency Matgin to be held in addition to insurance liabilities.
The Solvency Margin (presented in the table below) must be maintained at all times throughout the year.
The Company is subject to solvency regulations which it has complied with during the year. The Company
has incotporated in its policies and procedures the necessary tests to ensure continuous and full compliance
with such regulations. The table below summatises the Minimum Capital Requirement, Minimum
Guarantee Fund and Solvency Capital Requitement of the Company and the total capital held to meet these
required Solvency Margins.

2024 2023

AED AED

Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR) 100,000,000 100,000,000
Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR) 88,794,091 68,817,200
Minimum Guarantee Fund (MGF) 68,521,539 69,303,442
Basic Own Funds 142,975,622 139,201,083
MCR Solvency Matgin - Minimum Capital Requitement surplus 42,975,622 39,201,083
SCR Solvency Margin - Solvency Capital Requirement surplus 54,181,531 70,383,882
MGF Solvency Margin — Minimum Guarantee Fund surplus 74,454,083 69,897,640
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30 Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 the fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting year. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the company is the current bid price. These instruments ate included in Level 1.

. Level 2 the fair value of financial instruments that are not ttaded in an active market is detetrnined
using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as
possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an insttument are
unobservable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

o Level 3 if one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in Level 3.

1V alnation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using the same valuation techniques
and assumptions as those used for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Fair value of the Company’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis

Some of the Company’s financial assets ate measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined:

Valuation Relationship of
techniques  Significant  unobservable
Fair value and key unobservable  inputs to fair
Fair value as at hierarchy inputs input value
Financial = 31 December 31 December
assets 2024 2023
AED AED
FVTOCIL:
Quoted Quoted bid
Debt prices in an
secutities 218,484,146 131,348,329 Level 1 active market None N/A
Quoted Quoted bid
equity prices in an
securities 4,033,534 3,835,742  level1 active market None N/A

There were no transfers between levels during the yeat. Thete ate no financial liabilities which should be
measured at fair value and accordingly no disclosure is made in the above table.
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31 Financial risk

The Company is exposed to a range of financial tisks through its financial assets, financial liabilities,
reinsurance assets and insurance liabilities. In particular, the key financial risk is that in the long-term its
investment proceeds ate not sufficient to fund the obligations ardsing from its insurance contracts. The
most important components of this financial risk are market risk (which includes: foreign currency risk,
equity and debt price tisk and interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and operational risk.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrament will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. The Company’s matket risks may arise from open positions in (a) foreign
currencies and (b) interest bearing assets and liabilities, to the extent they are exposed to general and specific
market movements. Management sets limits on the exposure to currency and interest rate risk that may be
acceptable, which are monitored on a regular basis.

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. Thete has been no change to the Company’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Foreign currency tisk

There are no significant exchange rate tisks as all monetary assets and monetary liabilities are denominated
in Arab Emirates Dirhams, other G.C.C. cutrencies or US Dollars to which the Dirham is fixed.

Management believes that there is 2 minimal risk of significant losses due to exchange rate fluctuations and
consequently the Company has not hedged its foreign currency exposure.

Equity and debt price risk

Equity and debt price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in matket prices, whether those changes ate caused by factors specific to the individual secutity, or
its issuet, or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. The Company is exposed to equity and
debt price risk with respect to its quoted equity and debt investments. The Company limits equity and debt
ptice tisk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by continuous monitoring of developments in the
market. In addition, the Company actively monitors the key factors that affect stock and market
movements, including analysis of the opetational and financial performance of investees.

At the end of the teporting petiod, if the equity and debt prices ate 10% higher / lower as per the
assumptions mentioned below and all the other variables wete held constant, the Company’s other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2024 would have increased by AED 22,251,768
(year ended 31 December 2023: AED 13,518,407).

Method and assumptions for sensitivity analysis:

° The sensitivity analysis has been done based on the exposure to equity and debt price risk as at the
end of the reporting petiod.
° As at the end of the reporting period if equity and debt prices are 10% higher / lower on the market

value uniformly for all equity and debt while all other variables are held constant, the impact on
profit and other comprehensive income for the year has been shown above.

. A 10% change in equity and debt prices has been used to give a realistic assessment as a plausible
event.
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk atises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the finance income or
finance cost of the Company. The Company is not significantly exposed to interest rate tisk on its financial
investments in debt instruments and term deposits since they carry fixed interest rates. As such, the
Company’s income and operating cash flows ate substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates.
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31 Financial risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Company generally manages to minimise the interest rate risk by closely monitoring the market interest

rates and investing in those financial assets in which such risk is expected to be minimal.

The Company is exposed to interest rate tisk on:

() Liability for incurred claims; and
(i) Asset for incurred claims.

The below tables show the impact of 1% change in risk adjustment and discounting on lability for incurred

claims and assets for incurred claims:

31 December 2024
Impact on Impact on
profit gross of Impact on profit equity gross Impact on equity
reinsurance net of reinsurance of reinsurance net of reinsurance
AED AED AED AED
Risk Adjustment
1% increase (3,377,459) (1,235,804) (3,377,459) (1,235,804)
1% decrease (3,377,459) (1,235,804) (3,377,459) (1,235,804)
Discounting
1% inctease 1,596,923 318,633 1,596,923 318,633
1% decrease (1,618,683) (328,719) (1,618,683) (328,719)
31 December 2023
Impact on Impact on Impact on
profit gross of profit net of ui oss of Impact on equity
reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance net of reinsurance
AED AED AED AED
Risk adjustment
1% increase (2,581,383) (908,511) (2,581,383) (908,511)
0,
136 dectease 2,581,383 908,511 2,581,383 908,511
Discounting
1% increase 1,182,864 (43,898) 1,182,864 (43,898)
0
174 devreate (1,195,762) #1362 (1,195762) 41,362
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31 Financial risk (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Company.

Key areas whete the Company is exposed to credit risk are;

reinsurance contract assets;

amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid;

amounts due from insurance contract holders;

amounts due from insurance intermediaries;

amounts due from other insurance companies;

investments in debt insttuments;

cash and cash equivalents excluding cash in hand; and

fixed deposits

The Company has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties as 2 means of mitigating
the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Company’s exposure and the credit ratings of its countetpatties
are continuously monitored, and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterpatties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by
Management annually. A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due.

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Company’s liability as
primary insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Company remains liable for the
payment to the policyholder. The creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an annual basis by
reviewing their financial strength prior to finalisation of any contract.

The Company maintains records of the payment history for significant contract holders with whom it
conducts regular business. The exposure to individual counterparties is also managed by other mechanisms,
such as the right of offset where counterparties are both debtors and creditors of the Company.
Management information reported to the Company includes details of provisions for expected credit loss
on insurance and other receivables and subsequent write-offs. Exposures to individual policyholders and
groups of policyholders are mitigated by ongoing credit evaluation of their financial condition. Where there
exists significant exposure to individual policyholders, or homogenous groups of policyholders, a financial
analysis equivalent to that conducted for teinsurets is cartied out by the Company.

The catrying amount of financial assets tecorded in the financial statements, which is net of expected credit
loss losses, represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

For insurance and other receivables, the Company applied the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuting
expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected credit loss provision for insurance and other
receivables. The Company determines the expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix,
estimated based on historical credit loss expetience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as
appropriate to reflect current conditions.

Of the bank balances and fixed deposits balance at the end of year, AED 121 million (2023: AED 137 million)

is placed with one bank. The credit tisk on liquid funds is limited because the single latrgest counterparty is a
UAE sovereign bank.
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31 Financial risk (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The table below presents an analysis of bank balances and fixed deposits by rating agency designation at the end
of the reporting petiod based on Moody’s rating ot its equivalent for the main banking relationships:

As at 31 December
2024 2023
AED AED
Aa3 75,689,702 282937
Al 1,189 1,189
A3 66,344,094 6,239
Baal 163,758,269 255,526,226
Bal 92,899 26,640,575
305,886,153 282,457,166

The Company’s financial assets at FVTOCI ate held actoss vaticus countties. The table below presents an analysis
of financial assets at FVI'OCI by trating agency designation at the end of the reporting period based on Moody’s
rating or its equivalent:

As at 31 December

2024 2023

AED AED

Aa2 35,507,140 20,476,972
Aa3 49,615,491 5,491,499
Al 14,218,518 10,897,732
A2 20,626,041 9,674,938
A3 24,044,257 15,508,042
Baal 15,734,078 15,588,575
Baa3 . 138,632
Bal 34,689,347 31,647,883
Ba2 . 6,723,490
B1 21,270,595 12,286,112
Not rated 6,812,213 6,749,296
222 517,680 135,184,071

All the Company’s debt investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
considered to have low credit tisk, and the charge recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12
months’ expected losses. A 10% increase / (decrease) in the probability of default and loss given default
estimates as at 31 December 2024 would result in an increase / (dectease) of AED 88,077 (2023: increase
/ (decrease) of AED 68,302) in total expected credit loss allowances on FVTOCI investments, bank
balances and fixed deposits.

Liquidity tisk
Liquidity tisk refets to the tisk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its
financial liabilities at maturity date. Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management tests with the

management, which has built an appropriate liquidity tisk management framework for the management of
the Company’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.

The Company manages liquidity tisk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities to ensure that
funds ate available to meet its commitments for liabilities as they fall due.
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31 Financial risk (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial assets, financial liabilities,
insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contracts assets held. The maturity analysis has been presented
on a contractual undiscounted cash flow basis except for insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance
contract assets held which have been presented on their expected cash flows.

The contractual maturities of the financial instruments have been determined on the basis of the remaining
petiod at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile is monitored by

management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.

Less than 1
year 1-5 years 5+ years No maturity Total
AED AED AED AED AED
31 December 2024
Financial assets
FVTOCI investments — debt 11,673,150 118,996,157 87,814,839 - 218,484,146
FVTOCI investments — equity - - - 4,033,534 4,033,534
Statutory deposit - - - 10,000,000 10,000,000
Other receivables (excluding
advances and prepayments) 3,362,463 1,456,979 1,185,791 - 6,005,233
Deposits 168,010,091 10,367,797 - - 178,377,888
Cash and cash equivalents 117,508,265 - - - 117,508,265
300,553,969 130,820,933 89,000,630 14,033,534 534,409,066
Financial liabilities
Bank borrowings 74,911,911 - - - 74,911,911
Other payables (excluding
accrued expenses) 4,338,757 - - - 4,338,757
79,250,668 - - - 79,250,668
31 December 2023
Financial assets
FVTOCI investments — debt 58,643,868 10,380,090 62,324,371 - 131,348,329
FVTOCI investments — equity - - - 3,835,742 3,835,742
Statutory deposit - - - 10,000,000 10,000,000
Other receivables (excluding
advances and prepayments) 1,759,994 - - = 1,759,994
Bank balances and fixed deposits 194,497,309 49,454,467 - - 243951,776
Cash and cash equivalents 28,505,390 - - - 28,505,390
283,406,561 59834557 62324371 13835742 419,401,231
Financial liabilities
Bank borrowings 59,380,752 - - - 59,380,752
Other payables (excluding
accrued expenses) 5,042,508 - - - 5,642,508
65,023,260 - - - 65,023,260
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31 Financial risk (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

31 December 2024
Reinsurance contract assets

Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract liabilities

31 December 2023
Reinsurance contract assets

Insurance contract liabilides
Reinsurance contract liabilities

Operational risk

Less than 1 1-5 5+
year years years Total
AED AED AED AED
129,076,421 99,616,130 2,885,702 231,578,253
329,626,174 144,018,836 5,948,588 479,593,598
12,883,268 15,036,830 - 27,920,098
342,509,442 159,055,666 5,948,588 507,513,696

Less than 1 1-5 5+
yeat yeats years Total
AED AED AED AED
106,089,739 68,132,049 2,090,698 176,312,486
260,403,343 101,462,579 2,804,370 364,670,292
1,398,256 - - 1,398,256
261,801,599 101,462,579 2,804,370 366,068,548

Operational risk is the risk of loss atising from system failures, human etror, fraud or external events. When
controls fail to perform, operational risk can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory
implications, or lead to financial loss. The Company cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but
through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Company is able to
manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, authotisation, and reconciliation
procedures, staff education and assessment processes.
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32 Segment information

The Company is organised into two segments: Life and Medical as one segment and Motor and General as the

other segment.

These segments are the basis on which the Company reports its ptimary segment information to the Chief
Executive Officer. Insurance revenue tepresent the total income arising from insurance contracts. The
Company does not conduct any business outside the UAE. There are no transactions between the business

segments.

The following is an analysis of the Company’s income statement classified by major segments:

Insurance revenue

Insurance service expenses

Insurance service result before reinsurance
contracts held

Allocation of reinsurance preminms

Amounts recoverable from reinsurance

Net (expenses)/income from reinsurance
contracts held

Investment income - net

Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued
Finance income from treinsurance contracts held
Net insurance finance (expense)/income

Other operating expenses
Other underwriting income
Profit / (loss) for the year before tax

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Life and Motor and
Medical General Total
AED AED AED
289,534,391 214,530,209 504,064,600
(208,711,915) (270,503,105) (479,215,020)
80,822,476 (55,972,896) 24,849,580
(115,741,938) (98,942,242) (214,684,180)
84,378,169 116,746,737 201,124,906
(31,363,769) 17,804,495 (13,559,274)
4,913,107 11,688,372 16,601,479
(3,264,123) (10,383,824) (13,647,947)
2,183,106 11,109,797 13,292,903
(1,081,017) 725,973 (355,044)
(6,739,569) (7,188,567) (13,928,136)
3,317,640 - 3,317,640
49,868,868 (32,942,623) 16,926,245
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32 Segment information (continued)

Insurance revenue

Insurance service expenses

Insurance service result before teinsurance
contracts held

Allocation of reinsurance premiums
Amounts recoverable from reinsurance
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

Investment income - net

Finance expenses from insurance contracts
issued

Finance income from reinsurance contracts held

Net insurance finance income

Other operating expenses
Other underwriting income
Profit / (loss) for the yeat

For the year ended 31 December 2023

The following is an analysis of the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity classified by segment:

Total assets
Total equity
Total liabilities

Total assets
Total equity
Total liabilities

Life and Motor and
Medical General Total
AED AED AED
304,305,933 160,067,246 464,373,179
(286,716,216) (132,948,673) (419,664,889)
17,589,717 27,118,573 44.708,290
(123,735,434) (79,472,675) (203,208,109)
116,020,006 42,634,202 158,654,208
(7,715,428) (36,838,473) (44,553,901)
4,792,379 10,111,003 14,903,382
(3,508,104) {6,801,883) (10,309,987)
13,318,390 7,625,973 20,944,363
9,810,286 824090 10,634,376
(6,734,426) (7,552,127) (14,286,553)
3,135,580 - 3,135,580
20,878,108 (6,336,934) 14,541,174

As at 31 December 2024

Life and Motor and
Medical General Total
AED AED AED
236,897,908 537,185,312 774,083,220
42,615,705 134,265,978 176,881,683
194,282,203 402,919,334 597,201,537

As at 31 December 2023

Life and Motor and
Medical General Total
AED AED AED
194,977,156 408,456,264 603,433,420
(1,936,594) 161,489,196 159,552,602
196,913,750 246,967,068 443,880,818
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32

Gross written premium

Segment information (continued)

Details relating to gross written premium are disclosed below to comply with the requirements of CBUAE
and ate not calculated as per the requirements of IFRS 17.

31 December 2024

Direct Written Premiums

Assumed Business

Foreign

Local

Total Assumed Business
Gross Written Premiums

31 December 2023

Direct Wtitten Premiums

Assumed Business
Foreign

Local

Total Assumed Business
Gross Written Premiums

All types of
Life Fund Medical Property & Business
Insurance Accumulation Insurance Liability Combined
AED AED AED AED AED
97,844,849 - 165,244,752 299,543,719 562,633,319
- - - 37,967 37,967
= a - 37,967 37,967
97,844,849 - 165,244,752 299,581,686 562,671,286
All types of
Life Fund Medical  Property & Business
Insurance  Accumulation Insurance Liability =~ Combined
AED AED AED AED AED
91,804,827 - 197,457,096 182,448,375 471,710,298
- - - 72,369 72,369
- - - 72,369 72,369
91,804,827 - 197,457,096 182,520,744 471,782,667

33 Dividend and Directors’ remuneration

At the Annual General Meeting held on 21 March 2024, the shareholders approved not paying a dividend and
approved Board of Directors’ remuneration of AED 400,000 and an amount of AED 10,000 as a sitting fee
for each member for the board committees for the year ended 31 December 2023, (At the Annual General
Meeting held on 12 Apsil 2023, the shatreholders approved not paying a dividend or Board of Directors’
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2022).

34 Subsequent events

'There have been no events subsequent to the statement of financial position date that would significantly
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024.

35 Approval of the financial statements

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 22 January

2025.

36 Comparatives

Certain prior period amounts have been updated to conform to current petiod’s presentation. Such
regrouping did not affect previously reported profit for the year or equity.
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